IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ELIZABETH L. DAVIS,)
Petitioner,)))	CASE NO. SC: SC01-1157
VS.)	
HELEN K. MONAHAN,))	
Respondent.)	

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF

On Review from the District Court

of Appeal, Fourth District

State of Florida

No. 00-1982

Gregg W. McClosky, Esq. Florida Bar No. 343 927 David J. Pascuzzi, Esq. Florida Bar No. 086 101

Mattlin & McClosky 2300 Glades Road, Suite 400 East Tower Boca Raton, Florida 33431 telephone: (561) 368-9200 facsimile: (561) 395-7050

Attorneys for Petitioner Elizabeth L. Davis

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

In this brief, petitioner, defendant below, Elizabeth L. Davis will be referred to as "Davis" or "Petitioner" and respondent, plaintiff below, Helen K. Monahan will be referred to as "Monahan" or "Respondent". Defendant below, Betty Kish will be referred to as "Kish" and Monahan's guardian, Barbara K. Sadler, will be referred to as "Sadler". Davis and Kish will be referred to collectively as "Defendants". Citations to the record on appeal will be made by the letter "R" and the appropriate page number. Parallel citations to the appendix of this brief will be made by the letters "App." and the appropriate page number of the appendix.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This appeal arises from the Fourth District Court of Appeal's reversal of two orders, one dated April 18,2000 and the other dated May 31, 2000, the latter of which, by entry of partial summary final judgment, dismissed Davis from this action with prejudice on the basis of the statute of limitations. <u>Monahan v. Davis</u>, 781 So. 2d 436, 440 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001) (R. 1920; 1975)(App. 0001-0007). In this action, Monahan, pursuant to her Fifth Amended Complaint, sought monetary damages against Davis, Monahan's niece, and Kish, Monahan's sister, for the alleged wrongful taking of Monahan's cash, stocks, bonds, interest, dividends, and pension and social security payments. (R. 938-62)(App. 0008-0032). Monahan's theories of recovery were breach of fiduciary duty against Davis; and civil theft, civil conspiracy, conversion, and unjust enrichment against Davis and Kish. (R. 938-62)(App. 0008-0032).

Defendants moved for summary final judgment on several grounds including statute of limitations since the alleged wrongdoings with regard to Monahan's personal property (initially raised by Monahan's Amended Complaint filed April 15, 1998) occurred as early as 1990. (R. 1052-55)(App. 0060-0063). Davis submitted affidavit testimony declaring, in summary, that Davis never retained any of Monahan's property for her own personal use and any expenses paid using Monahan's property were paid at Monahan's request, with her authority, knowledge and consent and were for expenses incurred by and/or for the benefit of Monahan. (R. 1030 ¶ 8)(App. 0090 ¶ 8). Any of Monahan's property which was in Davis' custody pursuant to Monahan's consent, but which was not spent at her request on her expenses, was returned to her custody, the post-expense remainder being deposited into an account of Monahan's choosing. (R. 1030 ¶ 8)(App. 0090 ¶ 8). Further, Davis' deposition testimony was that all Monahan funds deposited in Davis' personal account were used for Monahan. (R. 482-83, 493-94, 526)(App. 0146-0147, 0157-0158, 0190).

Monahan, to defeat the statute of limitations argument, took the position,

among other arguments, that she did not discover the alleged wrongdoing until 1995.¹ (R. 1979 at 15-18, 31, 32-33, 35)(App. 0471-0474). Davis argued that a discovery rule did not apply to Monahan's causes of action. (R. 1054)(App. 0062). At one of the four hearings on Defendants' Motion for Summary Final Judgment, it was clear that the court was seeking record proof that Monahan did not discover the alleged theft of her property until 1995. (R. 1979 at 15-18, 31, 32-33, 35)(App. 0471-0474, 0487, 0488-0489, 0491). Monahan did not and could not offer any record evidence to support her delayed discovery argument. (R. 1992 at 12-15; 1978 at 5-14; 1979 at 15-18, 31, 32-33, 35)(App. 0433-0436; 0445-0454; 0471-0474, 0487, 0488-0489, 0491).

However, the trial court found that Monahan knew or should have known of the alleged wrongdoing before 1995, relying on undisputed record evidence that showed that in 1993 Monahan was audited by the IRS for failing to report the income generated by the liquidation of the U.S. Savings Bonds in 1990 that allegedly were improperly taken, giving rise, in part, to this action. (R. 1979 at 47-48)(App. 0503-0504). The undisputed record evidence showed that the IRS sent the letter regarding the audit to Monahan and that Monahan gave the letter to Kish. (R. 1979 at 45,

¹ Monahan did not plead delayed discovery as an avoidance defense. (R. 1016-17).

48)(App. 0501, 0504). Accordingly, the trial court ordered:

The court finds that the statute of limitations bars recovery for any actions taken by defendants prior to 4/15/94 in that there is no record evidence of concealment and that there is no rebuttal of record evidence that Monahan knew of the transactions as they took place.

(R. 1920; 1979 at 51)(App. 0006; 0507).

Monahan appealed, arguing among other things, that the trial court erred in granting summary judgment since record evidence indicated that Monahan did not know of the alleged wrongdoing until 1995, when she allegedly had other family members inquire about the status of her assets. (Appellant's Reply Br. at 11; R. 1479 at 54-55; 1508 at 281)(App. 0316 at 54-55; 0374 at 281). Additionally, Monahan argued, contrary to Davis' assertions, that the delayed discovery doctrine relied on in <u>Hearndon v. Graham</u>, 767 So. 2d 1179 (Fla. 2000) applied to all causes of action to delay the accrual of Monahan's causes of action until the time she allegedly discovered the wrongdoing in 1995; although no apparent reason for her ignorance of her affairs during 1990 to 1995 was ever established through record evidence and the undisputed record evidence established that she had actual knowledge.

The Court of Appeal of Florida, Fourth District agreed with Monahan, reversing the entry of summary judgment in favor of the defendants. <u>See Monahan</u>, 781 So. 2d at 440. The District Court held that the delayed discovery doctrine can apply to delay the accrual of all causes of action except for cases of fraud and products liability where the accrual is governed by § 95.031(2) of the Florida Statutes. <u>Id.</u> at 438.

Davis' Motion for Rehearing, Motion for Rehearing En Banc, Motion to Certify Conflict and to Certify Question of Great Public Importance was filed March 15, 2001. The motions were denied on April 20, 2001. Petitioner's notice to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court was timely filed on May 18, 2001. This Court accepted jurisdiction by Order dated October 22, 2001.

The facts giving rise to this action begin in 1990. In or about that year, Monahan lived in New York, and after her husband passed away she moved to Florida with the help of her niece, Davis. (R. 456; 623; 1030)(App. 0120; 0226; 0090). At the time of her husband's death, Monahan seemed distraught, malnourished and helpless. (R. 461)(App. 0125). Davis, her niece wanted to help her. (R. 461)(App. 0125). No good deed goes unpunished!

In or about 1990, to aid in Monahan's relocation to Florida, Monahan executed a Power of Attorney in favor of Davis and stayed for some time with Davis in Maryland. (R. 448; 1030)(App. 0112; 0090). With regard to the specific transactions which allegedly gave rise to Monahan's claims in this action, the Power of Attorney gave Davis authority to conduct Monahan's affairs including but not limited to redemption of U.S. Savings Bonds. (R. 967 \P 2)(App. 0037 \P 2). Davis,

pursuant to the Power of Attorney, redeemed Monahan's U.S. Savings Bonds at Citizens Bank in Maryland. (R. 513)(App. 0177). Davis then deposited the proceeds into an account which she had opened for Monahan at the same bank. (R. 513)(App. 0177).

Also about the same time, Davis helped Monahan close her New York accounts at Chase Manhattan Bank and Apple Bank. (R. 480-81; 486)(App. 0144-0145; 0150). The Apple Bank accounts were closed by Monahan signing her Certificates of Deposit and then, with her obvious consent, depositing them into Davis' account at Sovereign Bank in Maryland. (R. 481-82)(App. 0145-0146). The Chase Manhattan account was closed and Monahan herself uttered checks to Davis for deposit into Davis' account in Maryland. (R. 486)(App. 0150). The proceeds from Monahan's accounts were used, with Monahan's consent for Monahan's expenses. (R. 483)(App. 0147). Davis paid for Monahan's expenses for at least a year. (R. 485)(App. 0149).

Some of the proceeds, including any post-expense remainder, were transferred to an account in Florida at Barnett Bank; a joint account held by Kish and Monahan. (R. 1030 ¶ 8; 1042 ¶¶ 5-6)(App. 0090 ¶ 8; 0100 ¶¶ 5-6). Davis never retained any of Monahan's property for her own personal use and any expenses paid using Monahan's property were paid at Monahan's request, with her authority,

knowledge and consent and were for expenses incurred by and/or for Monahan. (R. $1030 \ \finite{1}8$)(App. $0090 \ \finite{1}8$). Any of Monahan's property which was in Davis' custody pursuant to Monahan's consent, but which was not spent at her request on her expenses, was returned to her custody, the post-expense remainder being deposited into an account of Monahan's choosing. (R. $1030 \ \finite{1}8$)(App. $0090 \ \finite{1}8$).

The Barnett Bank account was a joint account and Monahan was added to the account at Monahan's request. (R. 624-25; 1042 \P 5-6)(App. 0227-0228; 0100 $\P\P$ 5-6). With Monahan's consent, in 1990, funds from the Barnett Bank account were used to open a joint A.G. Edwards brokerage account. (R. 649-50; 1042 \P 8)(App. 0252-0253; 0100 \P 8). Despite Monahan and Kish having joint custody and control over these accounts, Kish never retained any of Monahan's property for her own personal use. (R. 1042 $\P\P$ 6-8)(App. 0100 $\P\P$ 6-8). Any of Kish's expenses which were paid using either account were paid with Kish's money. (R. 1042 $\P\P$ 7-8)(App. 0100 $\P\P$ 7-8). If expenses were paid using Monahan's property, such expenses were paid at Monahan's request, with her authority, knowledge and consent and were for expenses incurred by and for Monahan. (R. 1042 $\P\P$ 7-8)(App. 0100 $\P\P$ 7-8).

In 1993 Monahan was audited by the IRS for failing to report the income generated by the liquidation of the U.S. Savings Bonds in 1990 that allegedly were improperly taken, giving rise, in part, to this action. (R. 680; 1478 at 46, 47; 1485 at 98; 1979 at 45, 47-48)(App. 0283; 0314 at 46, 47; 0327 at 98; 0501, 0503-0504).
There is no dispute that the IRS sent the letter regarding the audit to Monahan. (R. 1979 at 45, 48)(App. 0501, 0504). This resulted in additional tax paid by Monahan. (R. 1478 at 46)(App. 0314 at 46).

Monahan at the time of her deposition in December of 1998, could not recall any wrongdoing by either of the Defendants with regard to her funds. (R. 343, 362-63). Nor could Monahan recall Davis or Kish improperly spending any of Monahan's money. (R. 343).² Sadler did not have personal knowledge of any facts to contradict that Monahan authorized, consented to, ratified and approved of Davis and Kish's conduct with respect to Monahan's affairs. (R. 1522 at 392)(App. 0402 at 392). In fact, since Sadler was not present with Monahan from 1990 to 1994, Sadler did not know whether Davis or Kish acted contrary to Monahan's wishes with respect to her property. (R. 1493 at 166-67)(App. 0345 at 166-67).

After Monahan moved to Florida in early 1990, Monahan lived with her sister, Julia Evans ("Evans"). (R. 623; 1483 at 86)(App. 0226; 0324 at 86). Monahan

² After Monahan's deposition was taken, guardianship proceedings were filed in January of 1999 on behalf of Monahan in Ohio without notice to Kish or Davis. (R. 1500 at 218-19; 2069-2109)(App. 0358 at 218-19). Sadler was appointed as Monahan's guardian in February of 1999. (R. 1503 at 242-43; 2108-09)(App. 0364 at 242-43).

lived with Evans until September of 1994 when Monahan went to Ohio to visit her brother, Alex Keselowsky ("Keselowsky") while Evans went out of town to visit other relatives. (R. 1475 at 19; 1487 at 119)(App. 0307 at 19; 0332 at 119). Although Evans returned from her visit, Monahan remained in Ohio to schedule and complete eye surgeries in November and December of 1994. (R. 1488 at 123, 126)(App. 0333 at 123, 126).

Although Sadler did not have personal knowledge of Monahan's sources of income, her total amount of her expenses, or her living conditions before September of 1994, during the time period from September of 1994 to December of 1994, Sadler saw her "pretty frequently" and based on her experiences with Monahan during that time period she felt her mental faculties and capabilities were "pretty good." (R. 1475-76 at 19 - 20, 22 - 26, 1484 at 90, 1488 at 126, 1493 at 166, 1572 at 398)(App. 0307-0309 at 19-20, 22-26, 0325 at 90, 0334 at 126, 0345 at 166, 0404 at 398). Accordingly, there has been no claim that Monahan was incompetent or suffering from any type of mental disability at that time or any time prior. (R. 1488 at 127)(App. 0334 at 127). After surgery on each eye had been completed, Sadler noticed a very noticeable difference in Monahan, "She became active." (R. 1488 at 127) (App. 0334 at 127). According to Sadler, Monahan could do what she "pretty well wanted to do" and Monahan understood what was going on in her daily life. (R.

1488 at 127)(App. 0334 at 127).

Monahan may have decided to remain in Ohio after Evans died in early March of 1995. (R. 1488 at 120)(App. 0332 at 120). According to Sadler, in Ohio, Monahan wanted to handle her own financial affairs and sought out the advice of attorney Richard Henkel ("Henkel"). (R. 1487 at 116) (App. 0331 at 116). She, along with Sadler, Sadler's Husband Bill ("Bill Sadler"), and Keselowsky met with Henkel in June of 1995. (R. 1487 at 115)(App. 0331 at 115). At that meeting Monahan executed a Power of Attorney in favor of Bill Sadler and a health care power of attorney in favor of Keselowsky. (R. 1487 at 117)(App. 0331 at 117). Following that meeting, Henkel sent a letter solely addressed to Kish, dated June 2, 1995, revoking any powers of attorney that may have been granted to Kish and requesting an accounting from Kish of all transactions involving Monahan's assets that Kish made on Monahan's behalf since 1990. (R. 2017-18). However, at no time did Monahan ever execute a Power of Attorney in favor of Kish. (R. 622-23)(App. 0225-0226).

On June 21, 1995, attorney Carl Schuster ("Schuster") responded to Henkel solely on behalf of Kish, communicating Kish's concerns regarding Monahan's apparent decision to relocate in Ohio. (R. 2022-24). At no time did Monahan, Henkel, or anyone else on Monahan's behalf contact Davis, or a representative retained on Davis' behalf, requesting an accounting from Davis. (R. 1511-12 at 306-07; 2022; 2028-29)(App. 0380-0381 at 306-07). Nevertheless, by letter dated August 17, 1995, Schuster, on behalf of Kish, provided documents and other information regarding Monahan's accounts at that time. (R. 2030-31).

According to Sadler, it was at some time during the latter part of 1995 that Monahan decided to sell her Florida condominium. (R. 1501 at 144)(App. 0339 at 144). Also during this time, according to Sadler, Monahan, through Bill Sadler, contacted various financial institutions and obtained information regarding Monahan's accounts. (R. 1479 at 54-55; 1508 at 281)(App. 0316 at 54-55; 0374 at 281). According to Sadler, during the latter part of 1995 and early 1996, Monahan came to her with the records for Sadler's analysis. (R. 1479 at 50)(App. 0315 at 50). On February 2, 1996, Monahan revoked the Power of Attorney in favor of Davis. (R. 976)(App. 0046).

Based on her review of some of Monahan's records, Sadler could not ascertain how \$200,000 had been spent by Davis. (R. 1478 at 46)(App. 0314 at 46). However, Sadler acknowledged that she had no personal knowledge that Defendants converted any of Monahan's property or used her property for their own personal use. (R. 1518-19 at 364-68; 1520 at 382-83)(App. 0394 at 364-68; 0400 at 382-83). According to Sadler, Monahan lost \$587,267 as a result of the Defendants' breach of fiduciary duty, civil theft, fraud and conversion even though she could not prove that the Defendants retained or otherwise converted a single dollar belonging to Monahan. (R. 1520 at 381-83)(App. 0400 at 381-83).

Also at the end of 1995, Monahan created a trust, initially naming Keselowsky as trustee and also as beneficiary. (R. 1503 at 240-42)(App. 0363 at 240-42). Sadler, Bill Sadler, and one of Evans' sons were successor beneficiaries under the trust. (R. 1503 at 241)(App. 0363 at 241). Around the time Sadler was appointed as Monahan's guardian in February of 1999, she also became trustee of the trust, although Sadler attested at the time she applied for appointment of guardian that she was not an administrator, executor, or other fiduciary of the estate of Monahan. (R. 1503 at 242-43; 2077-79; 2108-09)(App. 0364 at 242-43). Despite the apparent conflict of interest in having an interest in Monahan's estate and representing her as her guardian, Sadler allegedly authorized the November 2, 1999 filing of the Fifth Amended Complaint on behalf of Monahan. (R. 938)(App. 0052).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The District Court below reversed the entry of summary judgment in favor of Davis based on the statute of limitations, holding in part, that the delayed discovery doctrine applied, based on Monahan's assertions, to delay the accrual of the causes of action plead in this case. This decision conflicts with the application of the doctrine by other Florida courts interpreting the scope of the discovery rule. In analyzing the history of the delayed discovery doctrine through the decisions of this Court and others, and the development of the statutory limitations scheme by the legislature, the apparent conflict between the common law delayed discovery doctrine and the legislature's enactment of a general rule governing accrual and its enactment of express discovery rules for specific causes of action, can be harmonized only if <u>Hearndon</u> is limited to its unique facts. Otherwise, the legislature's express mandate regarding accrual of causes of action is meaningless and the decisions of this Court and others limiting the application of a discovery rule become irreconcilable with a common law delayed discovery rule that applies to all causes of action.

As set forth below, causes of action solely seeking to recover economic damages should be governed by the statutory scheme where a discovery rule is provided in actions for fraud. Absent fraud or some other statutorily enumerated provision, a cause of action seeking economic damages accrues when the facts giving rise to the cause of action occur. This rule gives meaning to the legislature's specific enactments while providing the courts the ability to apply the delayed discovery doctrine to actions not already governed by a statutory discovery rule involving physical injury arising from latent facts and consistent with the policies supporting <u>Hearndon</u>. Applying the statutory limitations scheme to the causes of action asserted in the instant case, there is no delay in accrual because Monahan has not and cannot

prove that Davis fraudulently concealed or misrepresented any of the facts regarding the transactions in which Davis allegedly misappropriated Monahan's money.

Even if a discovery rule applied to all or some of Monahan's claims, the undisputed record evidence demonstrates that Monahan knew and consented to all the transactions giving rise to the allegations of theft as they occurred beginning in 1990. Additionally, the undisputed record evidence, upon which the trial court relied, indicated that in 1993, the IRS audited Monahan for failing to declare interest from the allegedly improper redemption of the U.S. Savings Bonds. The IRS sent Monahan a letter describing the source of the interest from the redeemed bonds. Accordingly, Monahan should have known of these alleged claims in 1993 when she was audited.

Monahan cannot create issues of fact to support her claim that she did not discover the alleged misappropriations until 1995 based on statements by Monahan to Sadler regarding Monahan's requests that Sadler assist Monahan to account for her assets in 1995. Monahan's requests for information regarding her assets cannot support the improper inferential leap that Monahan never knew of the disposition of her assets before 1995. Additionally, any statements made by Monahan to Sadler in 1995 are hearsay and inadmissible to prove that Monahan did not know of the status of her assets before 1995.

ARGUMENT

I. THE DELAYED DISCOVERY DOCTRINE DOES NOT APPLY TO THE CLAIMS ALLEGED IN THE INSTANT CASE.

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