IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC01-1157

ELIZABETH L. DAVIS,

Petitioner,

vs. HELEN K. MONAHAN

Respondent.

ON REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA FOURTH DISTRICT CASE NO.: 4D00-1982

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

AMY D. SHIELD, P.A. 20245 Back Nine Drive Boca Raton, Florida 33498 (561) 487-0000 and

LAW OFFICE OF BARRY A. EISENSON 4953 Coconut Creek Parkway Coconut Creek, Florida 33063 (954) 971-7610

Attorneys for Helen K. Monahan

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

is terminated, so that unless the death of one of the parties occurs, the termination of a continuing agency cannot be effective so as to set the statute in motion until an accounting is had or a demand for an accounting is made and refused, or there is an express repudiation of agency communicated to the principal." *Central States Resources, Corp. v. First National Bank in Morrill, Nebraska,* 243 Neb. 538, 501 N.W.2d 271, 545, 276 (Neb. 1993); *Grindey v. Smith,* 237 Iowa 227, 21 N.W.2d 465 (Iowa 1946).

In *Grindey, supra,* Walrath collected the rentals on farm land owned by two other relatives. One of the two other relative claimed entitlement to all of the rentals, and on the advice of his attorney, Walrath told them that he would hold the rent and not give it to either of them until a settlement was made regarding whom should be paid the rents received from the farm property. The rent was collected and retained from 1932 until 1944 when Walrath died. His estate raised the bar of the statute of limitations, and the trial court agreed, allowing the plaintiff's claim for a portion of the rentals for the years 1939 through 1943, but denied any recovery for any rental collected during any prior years.

On appeal, the plaintiff argued entitlement to the rentals collected by Walrath from 1932 through 1938. The appellate court agreed with the plaintiff, finding that if there is a general or continuing agency the statute of limitations will not commence

to run until the agency is in some way terminated. This could be accomplished by having an accounting or making a demand for an accounting which is refused, or an express repudiation of the agency. *Accord, Palombi v. Dutcher*, 31 Misc.2d 907, 221 N.Y.S.2d 347 (N.Y.Sup.Ct. 1961); *cf. Margolis v. Andromides*, 732 So. 2d 507 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999).⁶

Monahan first asked for an accounting through her attorney in June, 1995. (R:2017-2018). The actual revocation of Davis' Power of Attorney was on February 2, 1996. (R:976-977). Therefore, the filing of the Amended Complaint on April 15, 1998 requesting damages against Davis and Kish from 1990 would not be barred by the Statute of Limitations. The filing of the Amended Complaint was well within the four year statute of limitations.

In *Estate of Allen*, 30 Misc.2d 874, 220 N.Y.S.2d 296 (N.Y. Surr. Ct. 1961), the decedent father was the agent of the petitioner children, who was given the power of attorney by each of his children when they reached majority, in order to continue to manage investments and to receive and hold securities. Insofar as the record before the court showed, the decedent never gave them any notice whatever of his intent to

⁶ In *Margolis*, the lessee sued the supposed agent of the lessors for breach of implied warranty of authority. The appellate court held that the lessee's cause of action accrued at the moment when the lessors repudiated the supposed agent's authority to extend the term of the lease.

deprive them of their property. The court cited to earlier precedent in stating that "[w]here an agent is to receive and hold property for the benefit of his principal, a demand by the principal is necessary in order to start the statute [of limitations] running or, at least, knowledge of such facts as would indicate that the agent was thereafter holding the property for his own use." *Id.* at 879, 301.

In *Russell v. Furman*, 629 So. 2d 297 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994), the Fourth District Court of Appeals determined that the statute of limitations for an action against an insurance agent for negligence in creating a gap in insurance coverage began to run when the plaintiff first had reason to know that there was a gap in the coverage (rather than when the negligent action took place or when there was a court determination that there was a gap in the insurance).

There being no statutes directly concerning actions against those given a power of attorney ⁷ an appropriate analogy is a trustee of a trust. Both have a fiduciary relationship; the trustee with the beneficiary of the trust and the attorney in fact with the person for whom he or she holds a power of attorney. In the most recent Florida case counsel could find on the accrual of a cause of action against a trustee for breach

⁷Chapter 709 on "powers of attorney and similar instruments" did not provide for a statute governing actions either in 1990 or currently. However, §709.08(8) Fla. Stat. (2000) discusses the standard of care of an attorney in fact under a durable power of attorney as a fiduciary who must observe the standards of care applicable to trustees.

of fiduciary duty, the Second District Court of Appeal, in *First Union National Bank v. Turney*, 26 Fla. L. Weekly D2776f (Fla. 2d DCA Nov. 26, 2001) said in dicta that the "[beneficiary of a trust's] causes of action did not accrue until she became aware of facts that would have put a reasonable person on notice." *Id* at *15. Quoting from *Hearndon v. Graham*, 767 So. 2d 1179, 1184 (Fla. 2000) the court stated that "[A] cause of action does not accrue until the plaintiff either knows or reasonably should know of the tortious act giving rise to the cause of action." See *Nayee v. Nayee*, 705 So. 2d 961 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998).

Because of the power of attorney given to Davis, either under caselaw providing for accrual of a cause of action once an accounting is requested and refused or cases determining that a cause of action accrues once Monahan has knowledge of the tortious acts by Davis, the Respondent would be within the statute of limitations. Then it becomes a factual question of when the discovery occurred, which should not be determined on summary judgment. As instructed by the Court in *Green v. Bartel*, 365 So. 2d 785, 788 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978):

Whether the plaintiff discovered, or by due diligence should have discovered the existence of the cause of action...prior to the date of the filing of her complaint, was a question of fact and it has been held that genuine issues relating to such questions of fact are to be determined by the trier of facts, and are not to be resolved on summary judgment.

Jurisdiction Improvidently Granted

Obviously, a decision based upon reliance of a power of attorney would not be in conflict with *Halkey-Roberts Corporation v. Mackal*, 641 So. 2d 445 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994) or *Yusuf Mohamad Excavation, Inc. v Ringhaver Equipment*, Co., 793 So. 2d 1127 (Fla. 5th DCA 2001) because they are so factually dissimilar to the instant case. Both of those cases arose out of a commercial setting and neither was concerned with a power of attorney. Thus, this Honorable Court may consider that jurisdiction was improvidently granted.

Delayed Discovery Doctrine

The Petitioner's brief analyzes the history of the delayed discovery doctrine through the various decisions of the Florida courts. Davis then makes a suggestion of how she would harmonize these decisions in a way which would relieve her from her own wrongdoing --- from Davis' systematic looting of the assets of a helpless family member who placed her trust in her niece and sister.

When looking for guidance, the Court often turns to other jurisdictions to examine their legal analysis. California, a state that is in the forefront of jurisprudence, has contemplated and concluded how to harmonize the application of the delayed discovery doctrine so that the policy considerations supporting the doctrine are fair and workable. In reiterating California decisions on this subject the court in *Prudential Home Mortgage Company, Inc. v. Superior Court*, 66 Cal. App.4th

1236, 78 Cal.Rptr.2d 566 (1998) stated:

The application of the delayed discovery rule rests on considerations of policy. "Two common themes run through the cases applying the discovery rule of accrual. First, the rule is applied to types of actions in which it will generally be difficult for plaintiffs to immediately detect or comprehend the breach or the resulting injuries. In some instances, the cause or injuries are actually hidden.... Even when the breach and damage are not physically hidden, they may be beyond what the plaintiff could reasonably be expected to comprehend. An action for professional malpractice, for example, typically involves the professional's failure to apply his or her specialized skills and knowledge.... The same rationale has been adopted where defendant held itself out or was required by law to be specially qualified in a trade. [Citations.] [¶] Second, courts have relied on the nature of the relationship between defendant and plaintiff to explain application of the delayed accrual rule. The rule is generally applicable to confidential or fiduciary relationships." (Evans v. Eckelman (1990) 216 Cal.App.3d 1609, 1614-1615, 265 Cal.Rptr. 605; see Parsons v. Tickner (1995) 31 Cal.App.4th 1513, 1526, 37 Cal.Rptr.2d 810).

In April Enterprises, Inc. v. KTTV (1983) 147 Cal.App.3d 805, 195 Cal. Rptr. 421, the court applied the delayed discovery rule to a breach of contract action where the breach was committed "in secret" and the harm was not reasonably discoverable by plaintiffs at the time. The court reviewed the application of the rule in California and other states and concluded, "A common thread seems to run through all the types of actions where courts have applied the discovery rule. The injury or the act causing the injury, or both, have been difficult for the plaintiff to detect. In most instances, in fact, the defendant has been in a far superior position to comprehend the act and the injury. And in many, the defendant had reason to believe the plaintiff remained ignorant he had been wronged. Thus, there is an underlying notion that plaintiffs should not suffer where circumstances prevent them from knowing they have been harmed. And often this is accompanied by the corollary notion that defendants should not be allowed to knowingly profit from their injuree's ignorance. (Id. at p. 831, 195 Cal.Rptr. 421.)

April Enterprises, Inc. v. KTTV, supra, further explained why the delayed discovery rule is applicable to a fiduciary relationship as well as explaining its procedural safeguards:

Thus, the date-of-discovery rule is applied to a fiduciary when strict adherence to the date of injury rule would result in unfairness to the plaintiff and would encourage wrongdoers to mislead their fiduciary to delay bringing suit. It is particularly appropriate when the defendant maintains custody and control of a plaintiff's property or interests.

Applying the discovery rule to certain, rather unusual breach of contract actions poses no more burden for the courts than the date-of-injury accrual rule in most instances. The discovery rule itself contains procedural safeguards protecting against lengthy litigation on the issue of accrual. It presumes that a plaintiff has knowledge of injury on the date of injury. In order to rebut the presumption, a plaintiff must plead facts sufficient to convince the trial judge that delayed discovery was justified. And when the case is tried on the merits the plaintiff bears the burden of proof on the discovery issue. April Enterprises, Inc. v. KTTV, 147 Cal.App.3d 805, 827, 832; 195 Cal.Rptr. 421,433,437 (1983).

By adopting these policy considerations as its own, this Honorable Court's decisions in *Federal Insurance Company v. Southwest Florida Retirement Center*, 707 So. 2d 1119 (Fla. 1998) and *Hearndon v. Graham*, 767 So. 2d 1179 (Fla. 2000) are harmonized. The holdings of the various Florida cases cited on pages 21-26 of the Petitioner's brief now generally appear to flow in a recognizable pattern because the Florida courts have inherently followed California policy when coming to a decision of whether the delayed discovery doctrine should be applicable, based upon the facts of the particular case before the courts. It makes for a fair, workable policy that takes

into consideration the necessity of set limitations for business expediency where arms length transactions and caveat emptor are the creed, yet protects those unknowingly injured or in a fiduciary relationship. The underlying policy considerations raised earlier in the Respondent's brief have been met by the California courts. It is respectfully submitted that this Honorable Court do the same.

The proposed judicial construction will not conflict with the statutory scheme. As aptly discussed in *Hearndon v. Graham*, there is a distinct difference between accrual of a cause of action which then triggers the running of a statute of limitations, and tolling which comes into effect after the statute of limitations has already begun to run. Section 95.051 Fla. Stat. (2000) deals with tolling, not accrual of a cause of action. The causes of action in Section 95.11 Fla. Stat. (2000) providing for delayed discovery are actually statutes of repose, setting forth outer limits for bringing a cause of action.

Pleadings in the Trial Court

Davis maintains that the delayed discovery doctrine does not apply because it was not properly pled. Yet, Davis has noted that Monahan's Fifth Amended Complaint specifically alleges that the action was not barred by the statute of limitations even though the events began to occur in 1990 because they were not discovered in 1995 as a result of the concealment by the Defendants.

(R:939;App.0009). Monahan then proceeds to set forth the underlying facts constituting the concealment by the allegations of her Fifth Amended Complaint.

Davis raised the statute of limitations as an affirmative defense. (R:1007-1008). Monahan replied to the affirmative defense by denying it. (R:1016-1017). No responsive pleading was actually required, since Monahan had already set forth reasons constituting an avoidance in her Fifth Amended Complaint. Moreover, "the limitations defense asserted in a defendant's answer requires no responsive pleading by the plaintiff, since any fact that would tend to defeat the defense is available to the plaintiff at trial." 35 Fla. Jur 2d *Limitations and Laches* §7.

Davis mistakenly states that Monahan abandoned her cause of action for fraud that was contained in the Second Amended Complaint. Count I of the Second Amended Complaint was entitled "Fraud and Breach of Fiduciary Duty by Defendant Elizabeth L. Davis." (R:730). Count III of the Second Amended Complaint was entitled "Fraud and Breach of Fiduciary Duty by Defendant Betty Kish." (R:737). When Davis amended her complaints, the underlying allegations for fraud remained; just the heading of the count was changed.

Thus, the underlying allegations of Count I for "Breach of Fiduciary Duty by Defendant Elizabeth L. Davis" in the Fifth Amended Complaint are virtually identical to its counterpart in the Second Amended Complaint. (R:730-736,939-946). Likewise

the underlying allegations of Count III for "Breach of Fiduciary Duty by Defendant Betty Kish" in the Fifth Amended Complaint are virtually identical to its counterpart in the Second Amended Complaint. (R:737-743, 947-953). See *Ambrose v. Catholic Social Services, Inc.*, 736 So. 2d 146 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999) where the theories advanced were found to be for fraudulent conduct despite their apparent headings of fraudulent misrepresentation/concealment; negligent misrepresentation/ failure to disclose; breach of fiduciary duty; and intentional infliction of emotional distress. Likewise, in the instant case, although the heading of the counts were styled "Breach of Fiduciary Duty" they also stated a cause of action for fraud.

In summary, this case can be decided on its unique facts which permits Monahan to rely upon the power of attorney given to Davis, thereby coming within the Statute of Limitations. Should this Honorable Court use this case as a vehicle to harmonize the law on the delayed discovery doctrine, the California courts have already shown how to reconcile the various types of factual situations and causes of action in a fair and workable manner. As this Honorable Court stated in *Creviston v. General Motors*, 225 So. 2d 331,334 (Fla. 1969):

From the standpoint of legal principals, the holdings in the cases above discussed appear to crystallize in favor of application of the blameless ignorance doctrine in those instances where the injured plaintiff was unaware or had no reason to know that an invasion of his legal rights has occurred. In reality, such a doctrine is merely a recognition of the fundamental principle that regardless of the underlying nature of a cause

of action, the accrual of the same must coincide with the aggrieved party's discovery or duty to discover the act constituting an invasion of his legal rights.

Because of the unique facts of this case, this Honorable Court should find no conflict and dismiss because review was improvidently granted. Alternatively, the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal should be affirmed.

II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING THE MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT WHEN THERE WERE GENUINE ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT

A. Monahan's Lack of Knowledge and Inferences

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